IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BOCA PARK MARKETPLACE SYNDICATIONS GROUP, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Appellant,

v.

HIGCO, INC., a Nevada corporation,

Respondent.

Case No. 71085 Electronically Filed Feb 22 2017 09:30 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown District Court Case Noclerk407 8078000 Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Charles H. McCrea (SBN #104) HEJMANOWSKI & McCREA LLC 520 South Fourth Street, Suite 320 T 702.834.8777 | F 702.834.5262 chm@hmlawlv.com

Attorneys for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal from the August 2, 2016 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment entered by the District Court on August 2, 2016. Notice of Entry of the District Court's Amended Judgment was given on November 7, 2016.

ROUTING STATEMENT

As this matter was commenced and concluded by entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment by the Business Court, it is properly retained by the Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(10).

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the doctrine of claim preclusion bars Plaintiff/Respondent Higco, Inc. ("Higco") from pursuing a second action for damages against Defendant/Appellant Boca Park Marketplace Syndications Group, LLC ("Boca Park") in 2014 for breach of contract based on exactly the same breach of contract prosecuted to final judgment in a prior action between the same parties in 2012.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the district court's August 8, 2016, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment adjudicating Boca Park liable to Higco for breach of an exclusive use provision in a commercial lease and awarding damages to Higco in the amount of \$499,997.70. APP 000235-246 (Vol. I).

The doctrine of claim preclusion bars the action that culminated in the judgment now appealed from because it is the product of a *second action* brought by Higco against Boca Park involving the *same breach* of the *same lease* that formed the basis of a final judgment on the merits rendered against Boca Park in an earlier action that concluded two years before the instant action was commenced.

III. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

In 2002, Boca Park, as landlord, and Higco, as tenant, entered into a lease of space to Higco in Boca Park's shopping center that included a provision granting

Higco certain exclusive rights to conduct gaming in the shopping center. APP 000082-129 (Vol. I). In 2011, Boca Park entered into a lease with another tenant, *Wahoo's Fish Taco*, granting *Wahoo's* the right to conduct gaming in the same shopping center. APP 000237 at ll. 19-23 (Vol. I). In 2012, Higco brought an action against Boca Park claiming that Boca Park had violated the exclusive use provision in Higco's lease by granting gaming rights to *Wahoo's*. APP 00065-187 (Vol. I). Although Higco could have brought a claim for damages against Boca Park for breach of contract at that time, Higco sought only declaratory relief, which was granted in a final judgment entered against Boca Park on November 7, 2012. APP 000236 at n. 2 (Vol. I).

A. HIGCO'S 2012 DECLARATORY RELIEF ACTION

Higco's first case, Eighth Judicial District Court Case No. A660548, *Higco, Inc., vs. Boca Park Parcels, LLC, et al.*, was filed April 23, 2012, and sought a judicial declaration that Higco's lease contained a restrictive covenant in its favor, granting it (doing business as a tavern named *Three Angry Wives*) the exclusive right to offer gaming, with certain limited exceptions, within Boca' Park's shopping center. 4/23/12 Complaint, APP 000001-58 (Vol. I). Higco's 2012 Complaint specifically alleged that Boca Park had entered into a lease with *Wahoo's* permitting it to conduct gaming in alleged violation of Boca Park's contractual obligation to

Higco:

Defendants Violate Plaintiff's Bargained-For Exclusive Use Provision [Emphasis in original.]

14. Plaintiff is informed and believes that one or more of Defendants... recently entered into a lease agreement with Wahoo's Fish Taco that allows gaming in the Wahoo's Fish Taco leased premises. This location is within Boca Park Phase 1, and is within less than 660 feet of Three Angry Wives.

15. An application has been made for a gaming license at the Wahoo's Fish Taco leased premises, is currently in the final stages of licensing approval, and is expected to be granted on April 19, 2012.

16. Prior to that date, *a demand was made by Plaintiff that Defendants not allow gaming on the Wahoo's Fish Taco leased premises in violation of the Exclusive [Use] Provision of the Lease*, [emphasis added] but Defendants have made it clear by their actions, and have stated through their representatives, that they do not believe that Plaintiff has an Exclusive Use provision in its Lease, and that the Defendants are free to allow other tenants in Boca Park Phase I to offer gaming, notwithstanding the express language of the Lease.

2012 Complaint, APP. 000005 (Vol. I).

On May 15, 2012, Higco moved for summary judgment. In its motion, Higco

argued:

[Boca Park] breached the Parties' Lease, by allowing a new tenant to offer gaming in Boca Park Phase I. Whether this breach was due to a lack of care or, or a calculated economic breach, the Defendants allowing a new tenant to offer gaming within Boca Park Phase I, is a clear violation of the exclusive for gaming granted Plaintiff under its Lease. [] Plaintiff asks the Court to enter summary judgment affirming the clear language of the Lease granting Plaintiff an exclusive for gaming in Boca Park Phase I, finding Defendants' actions to be in breach of the Lease. APP 000222, 224 (emphasis added).

On November 7, 2012, the district court issued its order granting Higco's motion for summary judgment, determining that Higco had an exclusive right to gaming in the Boca Park shopping center, concluding:

[T]he controlling lease is unambiguous, and ... Higco has a right to an exclusive use both for tavern and for gaming in Boca Park I, except for any tenants offering gaming in Boca Park I as of November 5, 2002, including Vons and Longs; and ... the exclusive use applies to all businesses operating in Boca Park I, other than Higco, to offer gaming, unless the business allowed gaming in Boca Park I, as of November 5, 2002.

11/8/12 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, APP 000064 (Vol. I).

B. HIGCO'S 2014 DAMAGES ACTION

Two years after its summary judgment became final and non-appealable, Higco filed its second Complaint against Boca Park, this time demanding damages for Boca Park's alleged breach of contract and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing with regard to the same provisions of the same lease at issue in its 2012 action. 12/5/14 Complaint, APP 000065-187 (Vol. I).

Higco's 2014 Complaint is so closely related to its 2012 action that a copy of the November 7, 2012, Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment is attached to Higco's 2014 Complaint as an exhibit and referred to in support of Higco's allegation that "The District Court Has Already Entered Judgment Ruling

that the Lease Grants Plaintiff the Exclusive Right to Offer Gaming in Boca Park I."

12/5/14 Complaint, APP 000069, at ll. 5-6 (Vol. I). Higco's 2014 Complaint then

demands damages against Boca Park based on the gaming conducted by *Wahoo's*:

17. In 2012, Wahoo's Fish Taco ('Wahoo') entered into a lease with the Defendants and began operating at 1000 S. Rampart, Building 21 (the 'Wahoo Premises'), which is located in Boca Park I.

18. Shortly thereafter, Plaintiff became aware that Wahoo... had applied for a restricted gaming license at the Wahoo Premises.

19. Plaintiff immediately demanded that Defendants not allow gaming at the Wahoo Premises. Defendants refused the demand and consented to allow gaming to occur at the Wahoo Premises.

20. On April 19, 2012, the Nevada Gaming Control Board approved the restricted gaming license application for the Wahoo Premises.

21. Plaintiff filed an action in District Court, which Defendants litigated on the merits, to determine the issue of whether the Exclusive Use provision of the Lease applied to and prohibited gaming at the Wahoo Premises. Defendants lost that fight when the District Court entered judgment declaring that the Exclusive Use applied to all gaming in Boca Park I (excluding Von's), including Wahoo.

22. Nonetheless, from April 2012 until present, Defendants have allowed gaming to continually occur at the Wahoo Premises, to the detriment of the Plaintiff.

12/5/14 Complaint, APP 000070 (Vol I).

On January 26, 2015, Boca Park moved to dismiss Higco's 2014 Complaint

on the grounds that Higco had impermissibly split its claims under *Five Star Capital*

and other authorities, with its 2014 claims barred by its 2012 action. 1/26/15 Motion

to Dismiss with Prejudice, APP 000188-195 (Vol. I); *see also*, Higco's 2/12/15 Opposition, APP 000196-206 (Vol. I); and Boca Park's 2/19/15 Reply, APP 000207-232 (Vol. I). The district court denied Boca Park's motion on March 5, 2015. APP 000233-234 (Vol. I).

On March 6, 2015, Boca Park filed a petition with this Court seeking writ

relief (Case No. 67525). The petition was denied on May 21, 2015.¹

C. THE BENCH TRIAL

The parties proceeded to a bench trial on July 26, 2016, concluding on July

28, 2016.² In its August 2, 2016, Findings of Fact, the district court determined that

Higco could have brought its damages claims in the 2012 action, stating in part:

On December 5, 2014, [Higco] filed the instant action seeking money damages for the same breach of the Lease forming the basis for the declaratory judgment entered in the First Action. The Complaint in this action asserts two causes of action: Breach of contract and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. *In the instant*

ORDER the petition DENIED.

APP 000595-596 (Vol. II).

¹ The order denying the petition states:

Having considered petitioners' arguments and the supporting documents in this original proceeding, we are not persuaded that petitioners have met their burden to demonstrate that our extraordinary intervention is warranted. NRS 34.160; *Pan v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 120 Nev. 575, 578-79, 97 P.3d 1132, 1134 (2004) (recognizing that this court generally declines to entertain writ petitions challenging district court denials of motions to dismiss). Accordingly, we

² Transcript of Trial, APP 000247-594 (Vol. II).

action, [Higco] is asserting rights and seeking a remedy against Boca Park based on the transaction out of which the First Action arose. [Higco] could have asserted its claims for breach of contract and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the First Action but did not. [Emphasis added.]

8/2/16 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment, APP 000236. The district court also found that "On April 19, 2012, the Nevada Gaming Control Board approved *Wahoo's* application for a restricted gaming license," noting at n. 5 that Higco's principal, Mr. Higgins "testified that he learned of Defendants" breach when he saw *Wahoo's* on the agenda for gaming approval." APP 000238, *see also* Reporter's Transcript of 7/26/16, APP000251 2:16-18 (Higco's counsel's opening statement argued that Boca Park had broken its promise in 2012: "Gaming there started in May of 2012...."); *id.*, at APP000296 47:1-4 (Mr. Higgins testimony that he learned of Wahoo's gaming when he saw it on the Gaming Control Board's agenda for approval); and Reporter's Transcript of 7/28/16, APP 000562 3:8-11 ("Boca Park broke that promise by entering into the *Wahoo's* lease. It happened in 2011, gaming started in 2012, in May....").

On August 8, 2016, the district court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment adjudicating Boca Park liable to Higco for breach of contract in the amount of \$499,997.70. APP 000235-246 (Vol. I). This appeal followed.

• • • •

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As the district court correctly noted, Higco could have brought its damages claims against Boca Park in the 2012 action. The district court then erred by concluding that although Higco could have brought its claims for breach of contract and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the 2012 action, Higco was not required to do so and declined to apply well-settled Nevada precedent requiring dismissal of the action.

Because Higco contended in the 2012 action that Boca Park had violated Higco's exclusive gaming rights by entering into the lease with *Wahoo's* and was therefore in breach its lease with Higco, Higco not only *could have* but *must have* asserted its breach of contract claims in the 2012 action and, by application of the doctrine of claim preclusion, is barred from bringing those claims in the instant action.

V. ARGUMENT

A. THIS COURT IS TO REVIEW DE NOVO THE DISTRICT COURT'S REFUSAL TO APPLY CLAIM PRECLUSION

Whether claim preclusion is applicable is a question of law to be reviewed by this Court de novo. *G.C. Wallace, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial District Court*, 127 Nev. 701, 705, 262 P.3d 1135, 1137 (2011), *citing Five Star Capital, supra*, 124 Nev. at

1058, 194 P.3d at 715; and *University & Cmty. Coll. Sys. v. Sutton*, 120 Nev. 972, 984, 103 P.3d 8, 16 (2004).

B. HIGCO'S SECOND ACTION IS BARRED BY THE CLAIM PRECLUSION DOCTRINE

The purpose of the claim preclusion doctrine, "is to obtain finality by preventing a party from filing another lawsuit that is based on the *same set of facts* that were presented in the initial suit." [Emphasis added.] *Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby*, 124 Nev. 1048, 1054, 194 P.3d 709, 712 (2008); *Holt v. Regional Trustee Services Corp.*, 127 Nev. 886, 891, 266 P.3d 602, 605 (2011), *quoting Redrock Valley Ranch v. Washoe County*, 127 Nev. 451, 458, 254 P.3d 641, 646 (2011), *quoting Littlejohn v. U.S.*, 321 F.3d 915, 919 (9th Cir. 2003) (claim preclusion serves to "protect the finality of decisions and prevent the proliferation of litigation...").

Five Star enunciates the current test for applying the doctrine of claim preclusion:

We begin by setting forth the three-part test for determining whether claim preclusion should apply: (1) the parties or their privies are the same, (2) the final judgment is valid, and (3) *the subsequent action is based on the same claims that were or could have been brought in the first case*. These three factors, in varying language, are used by the majority of state and federal courts. This test maintains the well-established principle that *claim preclusion applies to all grounds of recovery that were or could have been brought in the first case*.

Thus, while claim preclusion can apply to all claims that were or could have been raised in the initial case, issue preclusion only applies to issues that were actually and necessarily litigated and on which there was a final decision on the merits. The reason for this distinction is because *claim preclusion applies to preclude an entire second suit that is based on the same set of facts and circumstances as the first suit,* while issue preclusion... applies to prevent relitigation of only a specific issue that was decided in a previous suit between the parties, even if the second suit is based on different causes of action and different circumstances.

124 Nev. at 1055, 194 P.3d at 713-14 (emphasis added).³

Five Star Capital then analyzes the applicability of claim preclusion to the cases before it, which involved the same parties, the same state court, a judgment of dismissal of the first suit, and the filing of a second action based on a claim that was not but could have been brought in the first case. Here, there is no dispute that

The prior judgment... 'operates as a bar not only as to every matter which was offered and received to sustain or defeat the claim, but as to every other matter which might, with propriety, have been litigated.' Wolford v. Wolford, 65 Nev. 710, 714, 200 P.2d 988, 990.... This principle of res judicata has also found expression in the rule against splitting causes of action, to the effect that 'a single cause of action or entire claim or demand cannot be split up or divided and separate suits maintained for various parts thereof....'

Whether termed "res judicata," or "claim preclusion" in the wake of *Five Star*, the doctrine serves the purpose of NRCP 1, which directs that Nevada's Rules of Civil Procedure "shall be construed and administered to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action."

³ While *Five Star* clarified the issue of claim preclusion, it did not initiate Nevada's prohibition against a party's splitting of claims under Nevada law. Thus, *Reno Club, Inc. v. Harrah*, 70 Nev. 125, 129, 260 P.2d 304, 306 (1953), discussed the application of "res judicata" to claims that were or could have been brought in a prior proceeding between the same parties:

Higco's first case was between the same parties and decided finally on the merits. As to the third element, Higco has taken the position that although it alleged that *Wahoo's* gaming activities constituted breach of the lease, claim preclusion did not apply because it did not assert a formal claim for damages for breach of contract in the 2012 case. *Five Star Capital* disposes of Higco's argument in the clearest of terms:

As stated in Restatement (Second) of Judgments section 19, comment a, the purposes of claim preclusion are 'based largely on the ground that fairness to the defendant, and sound judicial administration, require that at some point litigation over the particular controversy come to an end' and that such reasoning may apply 'even though the substantive issues have not been tried, especially if the plaintiff has failed to avail himself of opportunities to pursue his remedies in the first proceeding....'

[F]ive Star's argument that claim preclusion cannot apply because the second suit included an additional claim for breach of contract damages is erroneous. *[C]laim prelusion applies to prevent a second suit based on all grounds of recovery that were or could have been brought in the first suit*. Since the second suit was based on the same facts and alleged wrongful conduct of Ruby as in the first suit, the breach of contract claim could have been brought in the first suit. As a result, claim preclusion applies, and the district court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Ruby.

124 Nev. at 1058, 194 P.3d at 715 (emphasis added).

Five Star Capital concludes by rejecting any public policy consideration

requiring a different result:

This is the exact type of case for which claim preclusion is necessary – to prevent a party from continually filing additional lawsuits until it obtains the outcome it desires by merely asserting an additional claim

for relief. As all the necessary elements for claim preclusion are met, summary judgment was appropriate, and we therefore affirm the judgment of the district court.

124 Nev. at 1059-60, 194 P.3d at 716.

Five Star Capital has been repeatedly enforced by this Court and the Nevada Court of Appeals. Alcantara v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 28, 321 P.3d 912, 915 (2014) (citing Five Star and explaining that the "doctrine is designed to preserve scarce judicial resources and to prevent vexation and undue expense to the parties" and is "premised on fairness to the defendant and sound judicial administration by acknowledging that litigation over a specific controversy must come to an end, even 'if the plaintiff has failed to avail himself of opportunities to pursue his remedies in the first proceeding"); Berkson v. LePome, 126 Nev. 492, 500-501, 245 P.3d 560, 565-66 (2010) (noting *Five Star*'s clarification of Nevada law on claim and issue preclusion and its purpose in requiring "that at some point litigation over the particular controversy come to an end."); Nevada Contractors Ins. Co., Inc. v. Risk Services-Nevada, Inc., 2016 WL 3257789, *2 (unpub. Cases Nos. 61279, 62049, 62340, 64532, 6/10/16) (applying Five Star and affirming district court's grant of summary judgment on claim and issue preclusion grounds); Reynolds v. Federal National Mortgage Ass'n, 2016 WL 1616604, *1 (unpub., Case No. 68376, 4/19/16) (even though actual claims for relief differed from those

brought before, they could have been brought before and were accordingly barred by doctrine of claim preclusion).

In Weddell v. Sharp, supra, 350 P.3d at 84-85, this Court expanded Five Star's privity requirement to include the "concept of 'nonmutual' claim preclusion" which "embraces the idea that a plaintiff[']s second suit against a new party should be precluded 'if the new party can show good reasons why he should have been joined in the first action and the [plaintiff] cannot show any good reasons to justify a second chance." Although the facts of this dispute do not involve any different parties, *Weddell* is nonetheless instructive as it applies claim preclusion where, as here, the first action sought and resulted in a declaratory judgment and the second action sought money damages based on claims that could have been brought in the first action. *Weddell* concludes:

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