### EXHIBIT 1

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

**BOCA PARK MARKETPLACE** SYNDICATIONS GROUP, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company,

Appellant,

VS.

HIGCO, INC., A Nevada Corporation,

Respondents.

Case No.: 71085

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Case No. A-14-710780-B, The Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez Presiding.

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### GARMAN TURNER GORDON LLP

Eric R. Olsen, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 3127 Dylan T. Ciciliano, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 12348 650 White Drive, # 100 Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 Telephone: (725) 777-3000

Facsimile: (725) 777-3112

Attorneys for Respondent

#### **NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE**

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

the clear majority of state and federal courts, this Court should recognize the Declaratory Judgment Exception. See, <u>Five Star Capital Corp.</u>, 124 Nev. at 1054, 194 P.3d at 713 (2008).

# c. Public Policy favors the Declaratory Judgment Exception.

Declaratory Relief is a creature of statute, which exists as a result of the Nevada Legislature creating NRS Chapter 30. This Court has recognized more than once that claim preclusion cannot be used to contravene the Legislature's policy decisions. Alcantara ex rel. Alcantara, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 28, 321 P.3d at 915–16(citing S. Cal. Edison v. First Judicial Dist. Court, 127 Nev. ——, —— n. 5, 255 P.3d 231, 237 n. 5 (2011) ("[C]laim preclusion could not be used to contravene the Legislature's policy decision."). While the purpose of claim preclusion is to bring finality to litigation, the purpose of declaratory relief is to promptly and efficiently clarify legal relationships. To the extent that these policies conflict, case law dictates that the policies of the declaratory relief shall prevail.

As expressed in the statute, the purpose of declaratory relief "is to settle and to afford relief from uncertainty and insecurity with respect to rights, status and other legal relations; and [is] to be liberally construed and administered." NRS 30.140; Las Vegas Plywood & Lumber, Inc. v. D & D Enterprises, 98 Nev. 378, 380, 649 P.2d 1367, 1368 (1982)(remedial statutes are liberally construed).

Declaratory relief should be applied consistent with the public policy reasons expressly provided for in NRS 30.140. <u>Int'l Game Tech.</u>, <u>Inc. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. Cnty. of Washoe</u>, 124 Nev. 193, 200-01, 179 P.3d 556, 560-61 (2008). The statute and public policy afford a party the opportunity to seek clarity from a court as to the rights of both parties, without having to initiate full blown litigation. It, therefore, encourages settlement and non-coercive results.

In adopting the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act, the Nevada Legislature recognized that a declaratory judgment would not necessarily bring finality to the dispute. Several provisions of the act reflect the potential for subsequent litigations. NRS 30.050 (recognizing a contract may be construed before or after a breach); NRS 30.080 (recognizing that declaratory relief may not terminate the controversy giving rise to the proceeding); NRS 30.100 (providing that further relief based on a declaratory judgment may be afforded). Thus, the statute itself recognizes that declaratory relief may result in additional litigation.<sup>6</sup>

In contrast to a "cause of action," "a declaratory judgment in essence does not carry with it the element of coercion as to either party." <u>Aronoff v. Katleman</u>, 75 Nev. 424, 432, 345 P.2d 221, 225 (1959) (internal citations omitted). Instead,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Furthermore, the district court has the discretion to refuse declaratory relief if it will not resolve the controversy, such that the district court can address any concerns that declaratory relief is being used abusively. NRS 30.080.

it only determines "legal rights without undertaking to compel either party to pay money or to take some other action to satisfy such rights as are determined to exist by the declaratory judgment." Id.; Nevada Mgmt. Co. v. Jack, 75 Nev. 232, 235, 338 P.2d 71, 73 (1959)(setting forth the requirements for declaratory relief); see also Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 355 (1983)(requiring only a likelihood of injury for declaratory relief); Maffeo v. Nevada, No. 2:09-CV-02274, 2010 WL 4136985, at \*6 (D. Nev. Oct. 19, 2010) aff'd sub nom. Maffeo v. Nevada, ex rel. Bd. of Regents of Nevada Sys. of Higher Educ., 461 F. App'x 629 (9th Cir. 2011).

In considering the potentially competing interests, other courts have recognized that declaratory relief allows courts "to clarify the legal relationships of parties before they have been disturbed thereby tending towards avoidance of full-blown litigation." Andrew Robinson Int'l, Inc., 547 F.3d at 58 (quoting Harborside, 959 F.2d at 373). As such "it would frustrate this [] policy were parties required to bring, as part of a declaratory judgment action, all conceivable claims and counterclaims on pain of preclusion." Id.; see also id. (quoting Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 231A, § 5 (allowing "[f]urther relief based on a declaratory judgment" whenever necessary or proper) for the proposition that declaratory relief anticipates the possibility of further litigation). It has also been recognized that "the Second Restatement has weighed these competing policy rationales and

concluded . . . that, on balance, public policy is furthered rather than retarded by the ready availability of a no-strings-attached declaratory remedy that is simpler, faster, and less nuclear than a suit for coercive relief." <u>Stilwyn, Inc.</u>, 353 P.3d at 1078 (quoting <u>Andrew Robinson Int'l, Inc.</u>, 547 F.3d at 58).

This Court has previously acknowledged that certain special proceedings should, as a matter of public policy, be excepted from claim preclusion. In G.C. Wallace, Inc., the Nevada Supreme Court found that "summary eviction proceedings" are unique and designed by the legislature as "a swift and straightforward procedure for determining who is entitled to immediate possession." 127 Nev. at 709, 262 P.3d at 1140. On that basis, this Court found that NRS chapter 40 "must be construed as exempting summary eviction proceedings from the doctrine of claim preclusion in some instances." Id. at 711, 262 P.3d at 1141. The Nevada Supreme Court recognized in G.C. Wallace, Inc. that by providing a statutory procedure for summary eviction the Nevada legislature intended a speedy and efficient means of relief without resorting to full scale litigation. This Court should also recognize the sound policy and legislative intent for the statutorily sanctioned declaratory relief mechanism to act as a speedy and efficient means of relief, and be able to see that the course of events in this action is consistent with that sound policy.

Because declaratory relief is designed to provide an efficient resolution of disputes between parties without resort to full-blown litigation, a declaratory judgment action should not be seen to preclude future litigation. The action before this Court is a perfect illustration of the intended purpose of declaratory relief. Here, there were two versions of the HIGCO Lease, one containing an exclusive for gaming and one not. Prior to Wahoo's ever offering gaming—i.e. prior to breach of the HIGCO Lease—a dispute arose between landlord and tenant as to which version of HIGCO's Lease controlled. The event that caused the dispute to come to light was certainly the knowledge that Wahoo's had applied for a gaming license across the parking lot from HIGCO's premises. The controversy concerned the sudden appearance of two versions of the Exclusive Use Clause, only one of which clearly provided an exclusive for gaming. HIGCO brought the Declaratory Relief Action, seeking a determination as to which lease controlled. The matter swiftly proceeded to judgment. Once Judge Denton determined the controlling lease and declared the Exclusive Use, consistent with the public policy goals of the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, HIGCO used the Court's Declaration to further settlement negotiations. While Boca Park ultimately refused to consider any settlement, sound public policy dictates that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In light of Boca Park's position that claim preclusion precluded any subsequent action for damages, their refusal to consider resolution of this matter is

HIGCO did not lose its right to pursue Boca Park's breach of the HIGCO Lease thereafter. To find otherwise would contradict the clear, unambiguous terms and intent of NRS 30, as well as public policy.

# 2. <u>HIGCO's AFTER-ARISING CLAIM FOR BREACH OF</u> <u>CONTRACT IS NOT BARRED BY THE CLAIM</u> PRECLUSION DOCTRINE.

a. Claim Preclusion does not bar claims that arise after the filing of a complaint.

Claim preclusion requires that the "subsequent action is based on the same claims or any part of them that were or could have been brought in the first case." Five Star Capital Corp., 124 Nev. at 1054, 194 P.3d at 713. The Restatement (Second) of Judgments provides: "A judgment in an action for breach of contract does not normally preclude the plaintiff from thereafter maintaining an action for breaches of the same contract that consist of failure to render performance due after commencement of the first action." Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 26 cmt. g (1982).

The majority rule applied in Nevada "is that claim preclusion extends to claims in existence at the time of the filing of the original complaint in the first lawsuit and any additional claims <u>actually</u> asserted by supplemental pleading." <u>Carstarphen</u>, 594 F. Supp. 2d at 1210 (applying Nevada law) (emphasis added);

conspicuous indeed and counter to the Uniform Declarator Judgment Act's purpose.

Chudacoff v. Univ. Med. Ctr. of S. Nevada, 2011 WL 1792708, at \*4 (D. Nev. May 11, 2011). In predicting what the Nevada Supreme Court would do, the Nevada District Court determined that this Court would "adopt the majority rule regarding when the claim preclusion bar takes effect." Carstarphen, 594 F. Supp. 2d at 1210. It ruled that "claim preclusion extends to claims in existence at the time of the filing of the original complaint in the first lawsuit and any additional claims actually asserted by supplemental pleading." Id. Thus, "an action need include only the portions of the claim due at the time of commencing that action" and there is no obligation to file a supplemental complaint. Id. (quoting 18 Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Edward H. Cooper, Federal Practice

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In reaching its conclusion, the Nevada Federal District Court surveyed courts from around the Country, and cited to the following: Hatch v. Boulder Town Council, 471 F.3d 1142, 1149 (10th Cir.2006) ("[A] claim should not be precluded merely because it is based on facts that arose prior to the entry of judgment in the previous action"); Rawe v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 462 F.3d 521, 530 (6th Cir.2006) (noting that the "majority rule" is " 'that an action need include only the portions of a claim due at the time of commencing the action' because 'the opportunity to file a supplemental complaint is not an obligation' ") (quoting 18 Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Edward H. Cooper, Federal Practice & Procedure § 4409 (2d ed. 2002)); Baker Group v. Burlington N. & Santa Fe Ry., 228 F.3d 883, 886 (8th Cir. 2000) (similar); Computer Assocs. Int'l, Inc. v. Altai, Inc., 126 F.3d 365, 369–70 (2d Cir.1997) ("For the purposes of res judicata, 'the scope of litigation is framed by the complaint at the time it is filed' ") (quoting L.A. Branch NAACP v. L.A. Unified Sch. Dist., 750 F.2d 731, 739 (9th Cir.1984)); Doe v. Allied-Signal, Inc., 985 F.2d 908, 915 (7th Cir.1993) (stating that "plaintiffs need not amend filings to include issues that arise after the original suit is lodged"); Manning v. City of Auburn, 953 F.2d 1355, 1360 (11th Cir.1992) (similar to Rawe).

and Procedure § 4409 (2d ed. 2002)); NRCP 15(d) (a party "may" supplement after-arising claims, but is not obligated to do so). Other courts are in accord. 9

Generally, "[c]ourts use the date of the filing of the original complaint as the cutoff for determining what claims could have been brought." <u>E.g.</u>, 47 Am. Jur. 2d Judgments § 475 (citing Allied Fire Prot. v. Diede Const., Inc., 127 Cal. App. 4th 150, 155 (Cal. Ct. App. 2005) ("Res judicata is not a bar to claims that arise after the initial complaint is filed.")). With respect to breach of contract claims, only the breaches "occurring prior to commencement of the first action constitute part of a single claim or cause of action." <u>Loveland Essential Grp.</u>, <u>LLC v. Grommon Farms, Inc.</u>, 318 P.3d 6, 12 (Colo. App. 2012) (quoting 18 Charles Alan Wright et al., Federal Practice and Procedure § 4409, at 212 (2d ed. 2007)).

### B. HIGCO's claims did not exist as of the date of the Declaratory Relief Action

In Nevada, a plaintiff alleges a breach of contract by pleading four elements: (1) formation of a valid contract; (2) performance or excuse of performance by the plaintiff; (3) material breach by the defendant; and (4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Camus v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 151 P.3d 678, 683 (Colo. App. 2006) (collecting federal and state cases); Mitchell v. City of Moore, 218 F.3d 1190, 1202 (10th Cir.2000); Florida Power & Light Co. v. United States, 198 F.3d 1358 (Fed.Cir.1999); Pleming v. Universal—Rundle Corp., 142 F.3d 1354 (11th Cir.1998); S.E.C. v. First Jersey Sec., Inc., 101 F.3d 1450 (2d Cir.1996).

damages. Johnston v. Int'l Mixed Martial Arts Fed'n, 2015 WL 273619, at \*3 (D. Nev. Jan. 22, 2015)(citing Bernard v. Rockhill Dev. Co., 734 P.2d 1238, 1240 (Nev.1987)). Likewise, a necessary element of a breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing is damages. <u>Eagle SPE NV 1</u>, Inc. v. S. Highlands Dev. Corp., 36 F. Supp. 3d 981, 990 (D. Nev. 2014).

While the Nevada Gaming Control Board approved Wahoo's application for a restricted gaming license on April 19, 2012, Wahoo's began to offer gaming no earlier than May 1, 2012. APP 000238, at ¶17. (Vol. I).

On April 23, 2012, at least a week before Wahoo's could have legally offered gaming in Boca Park, HIGCO initiated the Declaratory Relief Action. The only cause of action was for declaratory relief. At the time of the Declaratory Relief Action, facts necessary for HIGCO's claims for breach of contract and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing claim did not exist.

Did HIGCO think that it would be a breach of the Exclusive Use Clause it advocated, if Boca Park were to allow competing gaming to go forward and damages were to result? Certainly. Did it use the word "breach" to describe its perspective in moving papers? Probably. HIGCO did not, however, allege any claim for breach. There had been no actual breach of the HIGCO Lease and no quantifiable damages. While Boca Park had given permission to Wahoo's under its lease to offer gaming, that was subject to approval of gaming authorities, and

gaming was not being offered as of the filing of the Complaint. At that point, Wahoo's might never have commenced offering gaming. HIGCO's claims for breach of contract and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing would not, therefore, have been ripe at the time of the Declaratory Relief Action.

Likewise, no damages had accrued as of commencement of that earlier action. Even assuming arguendo that a probable future breach would provide the premise for HIGCO to file a breach of contract action, there could be no damages until Wahoo's began competing against HIGCO. Indeed, HIGCO would have had the burden of proving that it suffered damages and/or would suffer damages in the future from Wahoo's competition. As this Court has repeatedly recognized, there must be reasonable certainty relating of any future damages. Banks ex rel. Banks v. Sunrise Hosp., 120 Nev. 822, 837, 102 P.3d 52, 62 (2004); Houston Expl. Inc. v. Meredith, 102 Nev. 510, 512, 728 P.2d 437, 438 (1986); Sierra Pac. Power Co. v. Anderson, 77 Nev. 68, 75-76, 358 P.2d 892, 896 (1961); see also Burger v. Galey, 2014 WL 3778972, at \*4 (D. Nev. July 31, 2014). As of the date HIGCO filed the Declaratory Relief Action, there were no damages and averment of future damages would have been purely speculative. Again, Wahoo's might never have offered gaming, or it might have failed. Given that, Boca Park would have surely responded an allegation of breach of contract at that time with a motion to dismiss based on ripeness.

The District Court in this case found that Wahoo's began offering gaming on May 1, 2012, and found that HIGCO suffered damages from that point forward. APP 000238, at ¶17. (Vol. I). Thus, the District Court confirmed that the element of damages had not ripened by April 23, 2012. Furthermore, and significantly, HIGCO determined its damages by comparing which of its customers gamed at Wahoo's as well. APP 000244, at ¶40. (Vol. I). That analysis required that HIGCO compare more than a year of gaming records and analyze the amounts that each of their customers expended at Wahoo's. Id. at APP 000244, at ¶40. (Vol. I). The analysis, and the District Court's finding, confirmed that HIGCO had no basis to bring a claim for damages as part of the Declaratory Relief Action. It would be legally inconsistent to say, as Boca Park seems to, that a party with no actual damages must attempt to prove speculative future damages, before any present damages accrue, rather than choosing available and expeditious declaratory relief.<sup>10</sup>

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